



OPERATIONAL SUPPORT

European standards of HIV prevention and care:
Module on Commencement of antiretroviral therapy (ART)

ECDC OPERATIONAL SUPPORT

European standards of HIV prevention and care: Module on Commencement of antiretroviral therapy (ART)





This report by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) and the European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) was led by Teymur Noori (ECDC) and Milosz Parczewski (EACS). It was produced under a specific contract with the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). The European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) was awarded this specific contract under 'European standards of HIV care' (Framework contract number: ECDC/2022/0210).

This report on standards of care for HIV Testing is one in a series of standards for HIV care. Other reports in the series can be found on ECDC's website at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/infectious-disease-topics/hiv-infection-and-aids/ecdceacs-standards-hiv-care

ECDC would like to acknowledge the support, guidance, and quality assurance throughout the duration of the project provided by members of the Standards of Care Advisory group: Ferenc Bagyinszky (Germany), Georg Behrens (Germany), Jose Bernardino (Spain), Stela Bivol (WHO Europe), Alma Cicic (Montenegro), Deniz Gökengin (Türkiye), Caroline Hurley (Ireland), Cianán Russell (Europe), Cristina Mussini (Italy), Cristiana Oprea (Romania), Dominique Van Beckhoven (Belgium), Alexandra (Sasha) Volgina (Global).

ECDC would also like to thank the technical working group for their time, energy, and technical expertise to the drafting of the Standards of Care: Sanjay Bhagani (Working group lead, Clinician, United Kingdom), Bogusz Aksak-Was (Young scientist, Poland), Juan Ambrosioni (Clinician, Spain), Margarita Bracchi (Clinician, United Kingdom), Alexandra Calmy (Clinician, Switzerland), Viatcheslav Grankov (WHO Europe), Caroline Hurley (Public Health, Ireland), Laura Levi (Clinician, France), Liliya Ten (Community, Kyrgyzstan).

ECDC would also like to thank the SoC project core group members for their dedicated support in preparing the application for this project and for providing day-to-day support to the working process; Sanjay Bhagani (Expert EACS), Fiona Burns (Expert EACS), Esteban Martínez (Expert EACS), Dorthe Raben (CHIP), Jürgen Rockstroh (Expert EACS), Milosz Parczewski (Expert EACS), Ann Sullivan (Expert EACS), Teymur Noori (ECDC), Joelle Verluyten (EACS).

ECDC would also like to thank the European Standard of Care Coordination team from EACS and CHIP for jointly coordinating the work and ensuring support to all phases of the project. The project team consists of Dorthe Raben (CHIP) and Joelle Verluyten (EACS), including project coordinators Anne Raahauge, Susanne Olejas and Olga Fursa (CHIP).

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. European Standards of HIV prevention and care: Module on commencement of antiretroviral therapy (ART). Stockholm: ECDC; 2025.

Stockholm, October 2025

ISBN 978-92-9498-828-7 doi: 10.2900/3451417 Catalogue number TO-01-25-058-EN-N

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2025 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged

Contents

Abbreviations	iv
Background and introduction	. 5
Methodology	. 7
Topics	. 7
Policy and access to ART	8
2. Pre-ART Assessment and testing	9
3. Initiating ART	.10
4. Integrated care for key populations	.11
5. Community and support services	.12
6. Continuum of care	
7. Monitoring and evaluation	.14
Rationale	.14
References	.15
Annex 1. Contributors to the development of the standards	16
SoC Advisory Group members	
Commencement of ART Module Writing Group members	
Annex 2. Overview of quality statements and indicators	.17
1. Policy and access to ART	
2. Pre-ART assessment and testing	.18
3. Initiating ART	
4. Integrated care for key populations	.20
5. Community and support services	.21
6. Continuum of care	
7. Monitoring and evaluation	.23
Tables	
Table 1. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 1 'Policy and access to ART'	8 o
Table 3. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 2 Tre-ART assessment and testing	
Table 4. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 4 'Integrated care for key populations'	
Table 5. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 5 'Community and support services'	
Table 6. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 6 'Continuum of care'	
Table 7. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 7 'Monitoring and evaluation'	

Abbreviations

ART Antiretroviral therapy

CHIP Centre of Excellence for Health, Immunity, and Infections

EACS European AIDS Clinical Society

EU/EEA European Union/European Economic Area

FWC Framework contract

GAM Global AIDS Monitoring Framework (UNAIDS)

GCP Good clinical practice

GDPR General Data Protection Regulation HIV Human immunodeficiency virus

HTS HIV testing services IC Indicator Condition

MSM Men who have sex with men
PLWH People living with HIV
PN Partner Notification
PWID People who inject drugs
QS Quality statements

SDG Sustainable Development Goals

SoC Standards of Care

STI Sexually transmitted infections WHO World Health Organization

Background and introduction

Early initiation of antiretroviral therapy (ART) is a cornerstone of HIV care, conferring individual health benefits and reducing onward transmission. The World Health Organization (WHO) and European guidelines have, since 2015, recommended treating all adults living with HIV immediately upon diagnosis, regardless of CD4 count (a 'test-and-treat' approach) [1]. WHO further strongly endorses same-day ART initiation for those ready to start treatment [2]. This reflects the global shift toward rapid linkage from diagnosis to care, aiming to improve outcomes and move countries toward the 95-95-95 targets for 2030 [3].

An estimated 2 334 662 people are living with HIV in Europe and Central Asia, of whom 1 944 695 (83%; range: 65–100%) have been diagnosed [4]. Late diagnosis is a persistent challenge – over half of new HIV cases in the Region are diagnosed at an advanced stage. Nevertheless, treatment coverage among those aware of their infection has steadily improved. In 2018, 64% of people with a diagnosed HIV infection were receiving ART [5]. By 2023, this proportion was roughly 84% region-wide [4], indicating progress but still short of the 95% target. There is significant sub-regional variation: in western Europe nearly 95% of diagnosed individuals are on ART, whereas in Eastern European countries this figure is closer to 78% [4]. Such disparities highlight ongoing gaps in timely treatment access across the Region.

Additionally, health system and structural factors in parts of the Region impede rapid ART uptake. These include gaps in linkage-to-care infrastructure, stigma and discrimination in healthcare settings, and punitive legal environments that deter key populations from accessing services [6]. Geopolitical factors (conflict and migration) and recent public health crises (e.g. the COVID-19 pandemic) have also disrupted HIV service continuity in some countries, further delaying ART initiation. Addressing these challenges – by expanding prompt linkage protocols, training providers, and removing structural barriers – is essential for the Region to reach its ART coverage and HIV elimination targets.

By ensuring timely commencement of ART, countries can improve survival, prevent AIDS-related complications, and reduce HIV infectiousness – ultimately bending the curve of the epidemic in the WHO European Region [4].

What are standards of care for HIV?

The standards of care (SoC) for Commencement of ART define the expected, or desired, quality of prevention, treatment, and care for people at risk of HIV acquisition or living with HIV.

The standards are based on a scientific rationale, as well as the responsibilities of each stakeholder and ensure that people receive appropriate, high-quality prevention and care that aligns with the most up-to-date medical knowledge and ethical standards.

The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) in partnership with the European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) have developed standards of care in the areas of HIV testing, pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), antenatal screening, HIV and co-morbidities, and commencement of ART

Each standard is based on the following structure:

- 1. Brief description of the rationale for the standard.
- 2. Quality statements describing best practice based on current quidelines, evidence, and expert opinion.
- 3. related measurable and auditable outcome indicators used to assess the quality and effectiveness of the services.
- 4. Numeric values for defined targets.

The standards are person-centred in their approach with a specific focus on being equitable, non-discriminatory, relevant, appropriate, and accessible for people at risk of or living with HIV.

Who is the intended audience of the standards of care?

These standards of care are designed for three distinct audiences:

- people at risk of acquiring HIV or people who are living with HIV;
- people responsible for the provision and delivery of HIV-related services (service providers); and
- people who have responsibility for policy, guidance development and commissioning or funding of HIV services (Commissioners and public health institutes).

Applying the standards

One essential tool to support the application and measurement of these standards is the process of auditing. Audits at clinic and structural/policy levels provide a reference point against which to benchmark the quality of HIV prevention or care services.

The indicators listed in the standards are either structural, process or outcome indicators (defined in Annex 2). Many of the structural indicators are collected annually through the 2004 Dublin Declaration monitoring. On the other hand, to evaluate performance against the process indicators, in particular at the clinical service level, cyclical audits can generate results to form recommendations to improve quality and provision of care. Clinical level audits can thus supplement data collected through the Dublin Declaration monitoring. Specifically, findings from clinical audits could be used to identify areas of underperformance to produce specific clinic recommendations and drive quality improvement.

On a broader scale, auditing can assess the quality-of-care patients receive in Europe, guide service commissioning, and support the development of public health, clinical, and community guidelines.

Methodology

How were the standards of HIV care developed?

An advisory group and topic-specific writing groups consisting of representatives from clinical care providers, public health practitioners, community organisations and people living with HIV from across Europe were established (see annex 1). The advisory group provided overarching advice throughout the duration of the project, supported the prioritisation of module selection, prioritisation of quality statements and indicators and reviewed the SoC module. The topic-specific writing groups have developed the quality statements, indicators, and targets (under the guidance of an EACS expert lead writer) and also reviewed the final SoC testing module.

In developing the standard, a combination of consensus-building techniques, such as the RAND/UCLA Appropriateness method and the Delphi method, were used. The RAND method is a formal consensus technique that combines scientific evidence with expert opinions to create guidelines, recommendations, and quality indicators, particularly in healthcare settings – this method was used to identify topics for the SoCs and for developing quality statements and indicators. The Delphi method is a structured communication process that gathers expert opinions and facilitates consensus through multiple rounds of questions and feedback – this method was used as part of the writing group meetings. The drafting of the HIV testing standard has included a review of existing HIV epidemiological data and evidence, and international and national guidelines [7-11].

The methodology has been described in more detail in the method paper on ECDC's website at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/infectious-disease-topics/hiv-infection-and-aids/ecdceacs-standards-hiv-care

Quality statements, indicators, and targets

The SoC for Commencement of ART is divided into topics under which quality statements and indicators have been developed. The topics are listed below followed by the quality statements describing best practises and the minimum service and care that a person at risk of or living with HIV should expect to be able to access relative to HIV risk or status and across the life-course.

Topics

- 1. Policy and access to ART;
- 2. Pre-ART assessment and testing;
- Initiating ART;
- 4. Integrated care for key populations;
- 5. Community and support services;
- 6. Continuum of care;
- 7. Monitoring and evaluation.

For each of the quality statements listed below, indicators and targets have been developed to support monitoring of the various quality statements.

A detailed overview of quality statements, indicators, numerator, denominator, targets, and data sources can be found in Annex 2.

1. Policy and access to ART

Rationale

Given the benefits of early initiation of ART for those diagnosed with HIV, international guidelines (WHO, EACS) recommend that ART is offered to all people living with HIV regardless of CD4 count [8, 12]. In addition, there is robust clinical trial and cohort data demonstrating the effectiveness of ART in preventing onward HIV transmission [13, 14].

Table 1. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 1 'Policy and access to ART'

Quality statement 1.1 All people diagnosed with HIV should be offered ART regardless of CD4 count, country of residence or other variables	
Indicator 1.1 Percentage of national policy/guidelines that stipulate that all people diagnosed with HIV are offered ART regardless of CD4 count, country of residence, or legal status	Target 100%

ality statement All people living with HIV should initiate ART as soon as possible after diagnosis, and ideally within 7 days of an HIV gnosis unless specifically contraindicated (as per WHO guideline [15])	
Indicator	Target
1.2.1 Percentage of countries recommending initiating ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis	100%
Indicator	Target
1.2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who initiate ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis	95%
Indicator	Target
1.2.3 Percentage of people living with HIV who fail to initiate ART within seven days of presentation with documentation of specific contraindication	95%

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

2. Pre-ART Assessment and testing

Rationale

Several tests and procedures must be performed in all cases before or at the start of ART to ensure that the efficacy and safety of ART can be properly monitored. In addition, some tests are used to evaluate the indication for concomitant measures, such as prophylaxis of opportunistic infections. Pre-ART counselling and education for ART readiness are essential to avoid ART interruptions and loss of follow-up of people initiating ART.

Table 2. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 2 'Pre-ART assessment and testing'

Quality statement

2.1 All people living with HIV should have a documented baseline assessment including clinical history, clinical examination, and laboratory tests to enable safe and timely ART initiation.

Indicator 2.1 Percentage of people living with HIV who receive a documented baseline assessment in line with EACS guidelines [12] before or at the initiation of ART	Target
This will involve	
2.1.1 baseline CD4 count	2.1.1 97%
2.1.2 baseline HIV viral load	2.1.2 97%
2.1.3 full psychosocial history including lifestyle habits (smoking, alcohol, recreational drug use) and psychological morbidities	2.1.3 97%

Quality statement

2.2 All people living with HIV should be offered genotypic resistance testing prior to initiation of ART. However, genotype test result should not delay ART initiation.

Indicator	Target
2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who have baseline resistance testing	90%

Quality statement

2.3 People living with HIV about to initiate ART should be provided with sufficient information and support to successfully initiate ART and readiness to initiate ART should be documented.

Indicator	Target
2.3.1 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART who have documented readiness to start therapy	2.3.1 95%
2.3.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who were provided with sufficient information and support to successfully initiate ART	2.3.2 95%

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

3. Initiating ART

Rationale

Once proven that a person with HIV is ready to start and committed to continue ART, therapy should be started as soon as possible in all cases, unless an indication for delayed ART initiation exists. If available, the first line regimen should be based on a second generation integrase strand transfer inhibitor or Doravirine [15]. Specific population groups such as pregnant women, people with active hepatitis B infection, and the paediatric population, among others, may require specific adaptations of the ART regimen.

Table 3. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 3 'Initiating ART'

Quality statement 3.1 People living with HIV should be offered, where no contra-indication, first line regimen.	
Indicator 3.1 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART who are offered the EACS guideline first line regimen, where no contraindications exist	Target 95%

Quality statement 3.2 Where there is a contraindication or there is patient-preference for a different regimen, people living with HIV should offered the best suitable regimen for them.	
Indicator	Target
3.2 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating non-EACS guideline first-line regimen whose regimen choice is justified by valid clinical indication and/or patient choice.	95%

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

4. Integrated care for key populations

Rationale

Key populations – such as men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, sex workers, and transgender people – bear a significantly higher burden of HIV and often face substantial social, structural, and legal barriers to healthcare access [16]. Comprehensive, integrated care that encompasses HIV treatment, harm reduction, mental health services, and prophylaxis is crucial for improving retention in care, adherence to therapy, and viral suppression [16]. Tailored interventions addressing the unique challenges faced by key populations are associated with improved health outcomes and reduced HIV transmission rates [16].

Table 4. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 4 'Integrated care for key populations'

Quality statement

4.1 All services providing HIV care should have processes in place to support key populations' (men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, migrants, sex workers, people in prison) access to services

Indicator	Target
4.1.1 Percentage of HIV care services that have processes, including policies or designated personnel in place to address issues in key populations' access to services	100%
Indicator	Target
4.1.2 Percentage of people from key populations initiating ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis (unless of specific contraindication)	95%

Quality statement

4.2 Difficulties in taking ART should be identified, monitored, and should be addressed allowing patients to receive effective ART

AKI	
Indicator	Target
4.2.1 Percentage of institutionalised people living with HIV (e.g. in prisons, nursing homes) receiving ART who have access to care equivalent to that provided to people living with HIV outside of such settings	95%
Indicator	Target
4.2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV unable to take oral ART who are offered alternative treatment options (e.g. injectable ART)	95%

Quality statement

4.3 Women of reproductive age contemplating pregnancy should have a specific discussion about ART regimen and pregnancy plans/fertility

presently continuely		
Indicator	Target	
4.3.1 Percentage of women of reproductive age diagnosed with HIV who have	90%	
documented discussions about ART regimen and pregnancy plans/fertility		

Quality statement

4.4 Pregnant women about to initiate ART should have the same access to ART and outcome as the non-pregnant general population

Indicator	Target
4.4.1 Percentage of pregnant women about to initiate ART who have the same access to ART as non-pregnant women	95%
Indicator	Target
4.4.2 Percentage of pregnant women about to initiate ART who achieve comparable outcomes as non-pregnant women	95%

Quality statement

4.5 For pregnant women on ART, discussion around risks and benefits of breastfeeding taking into account cultural, social and personal circumstances should be documented

Indicator	Target
4.5 Percentage of pregnant women diagnosed with HIV who have a documented discussion	95%
about breastfeeding to make an informed decision	

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

5. Community and support services

Rationale

Community-based and support services, including peer-led interventions, psychosocial counselling, and strong linkages with local organisations, are critical for addressing the holistic needs of people living with HIV [16]. These services help mitigate stigma, support mental health, and improve treatment adherence. Evidence indicates that integrating community engagement and support into the continuum of HIV care enhances patient retention and promotes equitable health outcomes [16].

Table 5. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 5 'Community and support services'

Quality statement 5.1 Individuals initiating (or on) ART should have access to community-based support services (such as peer support services, substance-use organisations, social and psychological support organisations) Indicator Target 5.1 Percentage of HIV care services that have documented involvement of community members in services

Quality statement	
5.2 For people living with HIV specific needs in terms of mental health, substance abuse to services should be assessed, and help should be offered to those who need it	reatment, requirement of social
Indicator	Target
5.2.1 Percentage of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of mental health	90%
Indicator	Target
5.2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of substance abuse treatment needs	90%
Indicator	Target
5.2.3 Percentage of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of social service requirements	90%

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

6. Continuum of care

Rationale

The aim of HIV treatment is to achieve viral suppression, which allows people living with HIV to stay healthy and live longer. Individuals who are diagnosed promptly can expect a near-normal life expectancy if started promptly on treatment and retained in care [16]. Immediate ART, regardless of CD4+ count, has been shown to be beneficial for an individual's health [16]. Prompt ART initiation is also important as treatment as prevention: having an undetectable viral load while on ART means that there is no risk of ongoing transmission [16]. While the clinical goal of viral suppression is an HIV RNA <50 c/mL [12], HIV RNA <200 c/mL is not associated with a risk of sexual transmission [12, 14, 15, 17-20] (corresponding to the undetectable=untransmissible statement).

The HIV care continuum consists of several steps required to achieve viral suppression: being diagnosed with HIV, being linked into care (e.g. having visited an HIV healthcare provider within two weeks after learning they were HIV-positive), being retained in care (e.g. receiving medical care for HIV infection), achieving viral suppression. In 2013 UNAIDS launched goals to tackle the HIV epidemic: to have 90% of people living with HIV diagnosed, of which 90% on ART, and of which 90% with virological control. These goals have not been equally reached in all countries, and ongoing efforts need to be made towards achieving them. In 2020, the aspirations of testing, linkage to care/treatment and treatment success were raised to 95-95-95.

Some ARTs have in general a high potential for drug-drug interactions. ART is lifelong and drug-drug interactions are often unavoidable in people with co-morbid conditions: the potential for drug-drug interactions should therefore be considered systematically when selecting an ART regimen or when any new medicine is co-administered to existing ART, with particular attention to adjusting dosage and performing clinical monitoring when needed.

Table 6. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 6 'Continuum of care'

Quality statement 6.1 All people living with HIV should receive clinical follow-up in line with EACS guidelines until an undetectable viral load	established on treatment with
Indicator 6.1.1 Percentage of people living with HIV receiving follow-up clinical assessments in line with the EACS guidelines	Target 95%
Indicator 6.1.2 Percentage of people living with HIV with an undetectable HIV RNA on ART six months after initiating ART	Target 95%

Quality statement	
6.2 All people living with HIV should have HIV viral load testing to ensure undetectability	six months after initiating ART
Indicator	Target
6.2 Percentage of people living with HIV having a viral load test at a minimum	of 95%
six months after initiating ART	

Quality statement 6.3 People living with HIV who fail to achieve viral suppression at six months should have a genot adherence check and potential drug-interactions assessed	ypic resistance test, an
Indicator	Target
6.3.1 Percentage of people living with HIV who fail to achieve viral suppression six months after initiating ART with a documented genotypic resistance test result	95%
Indicator	Target
6.3.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who fail to achieve viral suppression six months after	95%

initiating ART who have documented discussion of adherence to therapy

Quality statement 6.4 All people initiating on ART should have potential drug interactions recorded and communicate	d to other caregivers
Indicator 6.4.1 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART who have documentation of potential drug interactions and all co-medications (including over-the-counter medications) recorded in their medical records	Target 95%
Indicator 6.4.2 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART whose potential drug interactions have been communicated to their primary care team or other relevant healthcare providers	Target 100%

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

7. Monitoring and evaluation

Rationale

Surveillance and reporting of ART initiation should be evaluable, so that tracking trends, guiding healthcare planning and prevention efforts may be aligned towards meeting sustainable development goals [21].

Table 7. Quality statements, indicators, and targets for topic 7 'Monitoring and evaluation'

Quality statement 7.1 Every country should have standardised national protocols for monitoring ART provision				
Indicator	Target			
7.1 Proportion of countries collecting, analysing, and reporting data on key European ART initiation indicators ¹ in line with national protocols for monitoring HIV treatment provision				

Quality statement

7.2 ART initiation indicators/metrics should be standardised within core European level HIV treatment indicators¹ (and should be reported by key demographics and populations)

Inc	licator	Target
7.2	Proportion of countries reporting core European level HIV treatment indicators (by key	100%
	demographics and populations)	

Quality statement

7.3	7.3 HIV care services should report ART initiation data through standard national monitoring and surveillance systems						
In	dicator	Target					
7.3	Proportion of HIV care services that report ART initiation data through standard national monitoring and surveillance systems	95%					

^{*} Indicators highlighted in bold have been selected for prioritisation in order to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards.

¹ Core European level ART initiation indicators include time from diagnosis to linkage to care, time to ART initiation, use of guidelines recommended therapy.

References

- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). HIV treatment and care: Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on Partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia 2017 progress report. 2017; Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/HIV%20treatment%20and%20care.pdf.
- 2. World Health Organization (WHO). Guidelines for managing advanced HIV disease and rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy. 2017; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241550062.
- 3. UNAIDS. '2025 AIDS Targets'. 2024; Available from: https://www.unaids.org/en/topics/2025 target setting.
- 4. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Continuum of HIV care. Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia: 2023 progress report. 2024; Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/hiv-continuum-care-monitoring-implementation-dublin-declaration-2023.
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Continuum of HIV care. Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia: 2018 progress report.
 2019; Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/continuum-hiv-care-monitoring-implementation-dublin-declaration-2018-progress.
- 6. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Progress towards reaching the Sustainable Development Goals related to HIV in the European Union and European Economic Area: Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia 2024 progress report. 2024; Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/hiv-evidence-brief-progress-towards-sustainable%20development-goals-2023 11.pdf.
- 7. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. 2019; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/978-92-4-155058-1.
- 8. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach. 2021; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240031593.
- 9. Shah, A., et al., HIV testing, PrEP, new HIV diagnoses and care outcomes for people accessing HIV services: 2023 report. The annual official statistics data release (data to end of December 2022). 2023: UK Health Security Agency, London.
- Haute Autorité de Santé, Réévaluation de la stratégie de dépistage de l'infection à VIH en France. Synthese, conclusions et recommandations, in Recommandations en Santé Publique. 2017: Saint-Denis La Plaine Cedex.
- 11. HIV in Europe. HIV Indicator Conditions: Guidance for Implementing HIV Testing in Adults in Health Care Settings. Available from: https://www.eurotest.org/media/veyhezw1/quidancepdf-1.pdf.
- 12. European AIDS Clinical Society. EACS Guidelines version 12.1, November 2024. 2024; Available from: https://www.eacsociety.org/quidelines/eacs-guidelines/.
- 13. Cohen, M.S., et al., Antiretroviral Therapy for the Prevention of HIV-1 Transmission. N Engl J Med, 2016. 375(9): p. 830-9.
- 14. Rodger, A.J., et al., Risk of HIV transmission through condomless sex in serodifferent gay couples with the HIV-positive partner taking suppressive antiretroviral therapy (PARTNER): final results of a multicentre, prospective, observational study. Lancet, 2019. 393(10189): p. 2428-2438.
- 15. Bavinton, B.R., et al., Viral suppression and HIV transmission in serodiscordant male couples: an international, prospective, observational, cohort study. The Lancet HIV, 2018. 5(8): p. e438-e447.
- 16. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. 2022; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240052390.
- 17. Broyles, L.N., et al., The risk of sexual transmission of HIV in individuals with low-level HIV viraemia: a systematic review. Lancet, 2023. 402(10400): p. 464-471.
- 18. Cohen, M.S., et al., Prevention of HIV-1 Infection with Early Antiretroviral Therapy. New England Journal of Medicine, 2011. 365(6): p. 493-505.
- 19. Rodger, A.J., et al., Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. Jama, 2016. 316(2): p. 171-81.
- 20. World Health Organization. Consolidated Guidelines on the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating and Preventing HIV Infection. 2016; Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549684.
- 21. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Mapping surveillance systems for HIV/AIDS in the EU/EEA. 2017; Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/mapping-surveillance-systems-hivaids-eueea-2025.

Annex 1. Contributors to the development of the standards

SoC Advisory Group members

Alma Cicic Public Health, University of Belgrade, Montenegro

Caroline Hurley Public Health, HSE Sexual Health, Ireland

Cristiana Oprea Clinician, Victor Babes Clinical Hospital for Infectious and Tropical Diseases,

Bucharest, Romania

Cristina Mussini Clinician, University Hospital Modena, Italy

Cianán Russell Community, ILGA-Europe
Deniz Gökengin Clinician, Ege University, Türkiye
Dominique Van Beckhoven
Ferenc Bagyinszky Public Health, Sciensano, Belgium
Community, AIDS Action Europe

Georg Behrens

Clinician, Hannover Medical School, Germany

Clinician, Hospital Universitario La Paz, Madrid, Spain

Omar Syarif Community, GNP+ Global Network for People Living with HIV

Commencement of ART Module Writing Group members

Juan Ambrosioni Clinician, Hospital Clinic-IDIBAPS, Spain

Bogusz Aksak-Was Clinician, Pomeranian Medical University, Poland

Sanjay Bhagani Clinician, EACS – Writing Lead Royal Free London Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

Margarita Bracchi Clinician, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, United Kingdom

Alexandra Calmy Clinician, University Hospital of Geneva, Switzerland

Viatcheslav Grankov Public Health, WHO EURO

Laura Levi Clinician, Hôpital Saint Louis, Paris, France

Liliya Ten Community Euro Central Asian Lesbian* Community (EL*C), Kyrgyzstan
Caroline Hurley Public Health, HSE Sexual Health and Crisis Pregnancy Programme, Ireland

Charlotte Deogan ECDC

Annex 2. Overview of quality statements and indicators

The indicators that have initially been selected for prioritisation to maximise acceptability and feasibility of adoption and reporting against the standards are highlighted in green and bold.

1. Policy and access to ART

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Data source
1.1 All people diagnosed with HIV should be offered ART regardless of CD4 count, country of residence or other variables	1.1 Percentage of national policy/guidelines that stipulate that all people diagnosed with HIV are offered ART regardless of CD4 count, country of residence, or legal status	Structural indicator	Policy/public health	Number of countries with national policies/guidelines that offer ART to all people diagnosed with HIV regardless of CD4 count, country of residence, or legal/entrance status	Number of countries	100%	Dublin Declaration monitoring
1.2 All people living with HIV should initiate ART as soon as possible after diagnosis, and ideally within	1.2.1 Percentage of countries recommending initiating ART within seven days of HIV diagnosis	Structural indicator	Policy/public health	Number of countries recommending initiating ART within seven days of HIV diagnosis	Number of countries	100%	Dublin Declaration monitoring
seven days of an HIV diagnosis unless specifically contraindicated (as per WHO guideline [15])	1.2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who initiate ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis	Process indicator	Clinicians/Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV who initiate ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis	Total number of people living with HIV who present to HIV care services in whom immediate ART is not contraindicated	95%	Audit
	1.2.3 Percentage of people living with HIV who fail to initiate ART within seven days of presentation with documentation of specific contraindication	Process indicator	Clinicians/Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV who do not start ART within seven days of presentation with documentation of specific contraindications	Number of people living with HIV who do not start ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis	95%	Audit

2. Pre-ART assessment and testing

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Source
2.1 All people living with HIV should have a documented baseline assessment including clinical history, clinical examination, and laboratory tests to enable safe and timely ART initiation	2.1 Percentage of people living with HIV who receive a documented baseline assessment in line with EACS guidelines before or at the initiation of ART	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART who have a documented baseline assessment (as per EACS guidelines)	Number of people living with HIV who initiated ART during the measurement period		Audit
	This will involve:						
	2.1.1 baseline CD4 count			2.1.1 CD4 count		2.1.1 97%	
	2.1.2 baseline HIV viral load			2.1.2 HIV viral load		2.1.2 97%	
	2.1.3 Full psychosocial history including lifestyle habits (smoking, alcohol, recreational drug use) and psychological morbidities			2.1.3 Psychosocial history		2.1.3 97%	
2.2 All people living with HIV should be offered genotypic resistance testing prior to initiation of ART. However, genotype test result should not delay ART initiation	2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who have baseline resistance testing	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART with a documented baseline resistance test	Number of people living with HIV who initiated ART during the measurement period	90%	Audit
2.3 People living with HIV about to initiate ART should be provided with sufficient information and support to successfully initiate ART and readiness to start ART should be documented	2.3a Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART who have documented readiness to initiate therapy	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART with documented readiness to initiate to successfully initiate ART	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART during the measurement period	2.3a 95%	Audit
	2.3b. Percentage of people living with HIV who were provided with sufficient information and support to successfully initiate ART	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART with sufficient information and support to successfully initiate ART	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART during the measurement period	2.3b 95%	Audit

3. Initiating ART

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Source
3.1 People living with HIV should be offered, where no contra-indication, first line regimen	3.1 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART who are offered EACS guideline first line regimen, where no contraindications exist	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART who are offered the EACS guideline first line regimen, where no contraindications exist	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
3.2 Where there is a contraindication or there is patient-preference for a different regimen, people living with HIV should be offered the best suitable regimen for them	3.2 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating non-EACS guideline first-line regimen whose regimen choice is justified by valid clinical indication and/or patient choice	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating non-EACS guideline first-line regimen whose regimen choice is justified by valid clinical indication and/or patient choice	Number of people living with HIV initiating non- national first-line regimen	95%	Audit

4. Integrated care for key populations

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Source
4.1 All services providing HIV care should have processes in place to support key populations' (men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, migrants, sex workers, people in prison) access to services	4.1.1 Percentage of HIV care services that have processes, including policies or designated personnel in place to address issues in key populations' access to services	Structural indicator	Policy/public health	Number of HIV care services with policies to address access issues for key populations	Number of HIV care services	100%	Audit
	4.1.2 Percentage of people from key populations initiating ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis (unless of specific contraindication)	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people from key populations who start ART within seven days of an HIV diagnosis (unless of specific contraindication)	Number of people from key populations eligible to start ART	95%	Audit
4.2 Difficulties in taking ART should be identified, monitored, and should be addressed allowing patients to receive effective ART	4.2.1 Percentage of institutionalised people living with HIV (e.g. in prisons, nursing homes) receiving ART who have access to care equivalent to that provided to people living with HIV outside such settings	Structural indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of institutionalised people living with HIV receiving ART with documented access to care equivalent to that provided to people outside such settings	Number of institutionalised people living with HIV	95%	Audit / Dublin declaration (only denominator for people in prisons and institutional
	4.2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV unable to take oral ART who are offered alternative treatment options (e.g. injectable ART, but not only limited to LAI)	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV unable to take oral ART who were offered alternative treatment options	Number of people living with HIV identified as unable to take oral ART	95%	Audit
4.3 Women of reproductive age contemplating pregnancy should have a specific discussion about ART regimen and pregnancy plans/fertility	4.3.1 Percentage of women of reproductive age diagnosed with HIV who have documented discussions about ART regimen and pregnancy plans/fertility	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of women of reproductive age contemplating pregnancy diagnosed with HIV who have documented discussions about ART regimen and pregnancy plans/fertility	Number of women of reproductive age diagnosed with HIV during the measurement period	90%	Audit
4.4 Pregnant women about to initiate ART should have the same access to ART and outcome as the non-pregnant general population	4.4.1 Percentage of pregnant women about to initiate ART who have the same access to ART as non-pregnant women	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of pregnant women initiating ART	Number of pregnant women about to initiate ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
	4.4.2 Percentage of pregnant women about to initiate ART who achieve comparable outcomes as non-pregnant women	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of pregnant women initiating ART who achieve a viral load below the limit of detection by six months or pre-delivery whichever comes first	Number of pregnant women about to initiate ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
4.5 For pregnant women on ART, discussion around risks and benefits of breastfeeding taking into account cultural, social and personal circumstances should be documented	4.5 Percentage of pregnant women diagnosed with HIV who have a documented discussion about breastfeeding to make an informed decision	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of pregnant women diagnosed with HIV who have documented discussions about breastfeeding	Number of pregnant women diagnosed with HIV during the measurement period	95%	Audit

5. Community and support services

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Source
5.1 Individuals initiating (or on) ART should have access to community-based support services (such as peer support services, substance-use organisations, social and psychological support organisations)	5.1 Percentage of HIV care services that have documented involvement of community members in services	Structural indicator	Policy/public health	Number of HIV care services with documented involvement of community members and key populations in service development and access pathways	Number of HIV care services	95%	Audit
5.2 For people living with HIV specific needs in terms of mental health, substance abuse treatment, requirement of social services should be assessed, and help should be offered to those who need it	5.2.1 Percentage of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of mental health	Process indicator	Healthcare providers / Healthcare providers at community level	Number of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of mental health needs	Number of people living with HIV in care	90%	Audit
	5.2.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of substance abuse treatment needs	Process indicator	Healthcare providers / Healthcare providers at community level	Number of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of substance abuse treatment needs	Number of people living with HIV in care	90%	
	5.2.3 Percentage of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of social service requirements	Process indicator	Healthcare providers / Healthcare providers at community level	Number of people living with HIV who have a documented assessment of social service requirements	Number of people living with HIV in care	90%	

6. Continuum of care

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Source
6.1 All people living with HIV should receive clinical follow-up in line with EACS guidelines until established on treatment with an undetectable viral load	6.1.1 Percentage of people living with HIV receiving follow-up clinical assessments in line with the EACS guidelines	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV who received follow-up visits according to EACS guidelines until achieving an undetectable viral load	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
	6.1.2 Percentage of people living with HIV with an undetectable HIV RNA on ART six months after initiating ART	Structural indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV on ART who have suppressed viral load at six months after initiating ART	Number of people living with HIV newly initiating ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
6.2 All people living with HIV should have HIV viral load testing to ensure undetectability six months after initiating ART	6.2 Percentage of people living with HIV having a viral load test at a minimum of six months after initiating ART	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART who have undergone at least one viral load test at minimum of six months after initiating ART	Number of people living with HIV newly initiating ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
6.3 People living with HIV who fail to achieve viral suppression at six months should have a genotypic resistance test, an adherence check and potential drug-interactions assessed	6.3.1 Percentage of people living with HIV who fail to achieve viral suppression six months after initiating ART with a documented genotypic resistance test result	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV on ART six months after initiation who have not achieved viral suppression who have documentation of a genotypic resistance test being performed	Number of people living with HIV on ART six months after initiation who have not achieved viral suppression	95%	Audit
	6.3.2 Percentage of people living with HIV who fail to achieve viral suppression six months after initiating ART who have documented discussion of adherence to therapy	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV on ART six months after initiation who have not achieved viral suppression who have clear documentation of an adherence-focused clinical discussion	Number of people living with HIV on ART six months after initiation who have not achieved viral suppression	95%	Audit
6.4 All people initiating on ART should have potential drug interactions recorded and communicated to other caregivers	6.4.1 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART who have documentation of potential drug interactions and all co-medications (including over-the-counter medications) recorded in their medical records	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART with documented potential drug interactions and all co-medications recorded	Total number of people living with HIV initiating ART during the measurement period	95%	Audit
	6.4.2 Percentage of people living with HIV initiating ART whose potential drug interactions have been communicated to their primary care team or other relevant healthcare providers	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of people living with HIV initiating ART with documented communication of potential drug interactions to other healthcare providers	Total number of people living with HIV initiating ART during the measurement period	100%	Audit

7. Monitoring and evaluation

Quality statements	Indicator	Type of Indicator	Key audience	Numerator	Denominator	Targets	Source
7.1 Every country should have standardised national protocols for monitoring ART provision	7.1 Proportion of countries collecting, analysing, and reporting data on key European level ART initiation indicators in line with national protocols for monitoring HIV treatment provision	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of countries collecting, analysing, and reporting data on key European level ART initiation indicators in line with national protocols for monitoring HIV treatment provision	Number of countries	95%	National level data sources or Dublin Declaration / TESSy
7.2 ART initiation indicators/metrics should be standardised with core European level HIV treatment indicators (and should be reported by key demographics and populations	7.2 Proportion of countries reporting core European level HIV treatment indicators (by key demographics and populations)	Process indicator	Policy/public health	Number of countries reporting ART initiation data (by key demographics and populations) at the European level	Number of countries	100%	National level data sources or Dublin Declaration / TESSY
7.3 HIV care services should report ART initiation data through standard national monitoring and surveillance systems	7.3 Proportion of HIV care services that report ART initiation data through standard national monitoring and surveillance systems	Process indicator	Healthcare providers	Number of HIV care services that report ART initiation data through standard national monitoring and surveillance systems	Number of HIV care services	95%	Audit

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)

Gustav III:s Boulevard 40 16973 Solna, Sweden

Tel. +46 858 60 10 00 ECDC.info@ecdc.europa.eu

www.ecdc.europa.eu

